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FOREWORD BY CHERIE BLAIR 

 

In 2019 the World Justice project Rule of Law Index ranked Botswana 44th out of 126 countries 

worldwide, second only to Rwanda in Africa.  To mark this achievement the President of Botswana Dr 

Mokgweetsi Masisi visited the Otse Police College and declared: “I would like to remind you that our 

success is anchored on the rule of law, which we should, as a nation, continue to uphold and jealously 

protect in order to safeguard our democracy”. 

 

It seems that in the case of the State versus former Botswanan intelligence officer Welheminah 

Mphoeng Maswabi (aka ‘Butterfly’) these words have been forgotten. 

 

Preserving and upholding the Rule of Law is one of the key challenges of our times.  Where functioning 

effectively, it reduces corruption, combats poverty and disease, and protects people from injustices 

large and small.  It is the foundation for communities of justice, opportunity, and peace - underpinning 

development, accountable government, and respect for fundamental rights.  Traditionally, the Rule of 

Law has been viewed as the domain of lawyers and judges.  But everyday issues of safety, rights, 

justice, and governance affect us all; everyone is a stakeholder in the Rule of Law. 

 

The Rule of Law is a great leveller.  Everyone from President to pauper, from tycoon to street hawker 

should be equal before the Law.  Regrettably, that is not the case in many parts of the world and we 

are seeing a worrying trend of the weaponising of the criminal law by those with influence to 

undermine opponents whether in business or in politics.  Sometimes this is a deliberate plan and 

sometimes it happens over time due to the neglect and decay of the core institutions that guard the 

justice system: the Judges; the Prosecutors; the Lawyers; the Police and the Prisons Service. 

 

The Press too has a role to play in exposing attacks on the Rule of Law but here the rise of fake news 

is creating a dangerous and corrosive new environment.  Fake news can be the vehicle for the fast and 

uncontrollable propagation of political attacks, business sabotage and fabricated hatred as well as of 

groundless and libellous allegations.  In the era of social media and of 24/7 connection, this can cause 

incommensurable damage and undermine the core values of society itself. 

 

This Report deals with a case where fake news, spurious allegations, baseless accusations and 

manufactured evidence formed the basis of a legal action brought by a State in the context of a 
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conspiracy theory riddled with fantasies, inaccuracies and blatant falsehoods and involving a former 

President, spies and billions of dollars.   

 

One of the key elements to the effective Rule of Law in criminal trials is the independence of the 

Judiciary and Prosecutors.  As essential actors in the administration of justice, Prosecutors must carry 

out their functions: “fairly, consistently and expeditiously, and respect and protect human dignity and 

uphold human rights…”.1 

 

As this Report exposes in withering detail, the obvious flaws in the essential facts upon which this 

baseless conspiracy theory has been built, we are forced to conclude that, in this case at least, the 

integrity of Botswana’s prosecutorial system has failed.   

 

Tellingly, we have unravelled the inconsistencies, errors and fabrications within a matter of weeks, 

some within days and there was no magic to our efforts as the Report explains.  Clearly, any remotely 

competent or properly motivated Prosecutor should have quickly seen such flimsy evidence for what 

it was and it should never have been put before the Court. Had these allegations been properly 

investigated, those responsible would have realised that this was a case which any reasonable and fair 

minded prosecutor would have abandoned for lack of credible evidence. 

 

However, the startling flaws in the case and the absence of any factual basis does not diminish the 

devastating effects the State’s case has caused to the people involved.  Fortunately, the Defendant 

herself, Welheminah Mphoeng Maswabi, has been released on bail by the Court, but still has the 

prosecution hanging over her. 

 

But others too have had their names besmirched by baseless allegations made by the Prosecution 

including no less that former-President of Botswana, Seretse Khama Ian Khama.  Alongside the 

President, Botswana’s Former Chief of Intelligence, Isaac Kgosi, is implicated, and so too is 

Ambassador Bridgette Motsepe, a prominent African businesswoman and an Ambassador of the Pan-

African Parliament.  Ambassador Motsepe has had to face not only the disruption the groundless 

charges filed by the Botswana Government have brought to her business activities, but also has had 

to defend herself from shabby attacks to her reputation and integrity, published widely both in 

Botswana, South Africa and the wider world. 

 
1 Guideline 12 of the UN Guidelines on the Role of Prosecutors 
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Fact checking and verification are the only bastion we have to defend ourselves from falsehoods and 

fabricated hatred.  This is why, when Omnia Strategy LLP – with the assistance of Alaco Ltd – was 

commissioned to produce this independent Report, I was glad to be given the opportunity to examine 

the prosecution case and to bring to bear my professional expertise to assist in shining a light on the 

truth of this matter. 

 

The conclusions of our Report are quite clear.  There is not a shred of evidence to support the State’s 

allegations about Special Unit Accounts and financial impropriety by President Khama, Ambassador 

Motsepe, Isaac Kgosi, or Butterfly herself.  

 

My sincere hope is that Botswana’s Prosecution Authority will take advantage of the analysis in this 

Report and will swiftly move to drop this fatally flawed prosecution.  This is the only way that faith in 

the long-standing integrity of the Rule of Law in Botswana be restored.  Weaponisation of justice for 

political gains should have no place in any country, certainly not Botswana, which has a long history 

of strict compliance with the highest societal values of justice and due process. 
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CAST OF CHARACTERS 

 

Serêtsê Khama Ian Khama  Former President of Botswana (2008 – 2018). 

Ambassador Bridgette Motsepe South African businesswoman.  Founder of Mmakau Mining, 

President of the South African Mining Development 

Association, Chairperson of the Black Business Council and 

Council Member of the BRICS Business Council.  Since 2019, 

appointed by the Pan African Parliament as Ambassador for 

entrepreneurship and economic development in the African 

Union. 

Jako Hubona  Investigator with Botswana’s Directorate on Corruption and 

Economic Crime.   

Welheminah Mphoeng Maswabi  Former Botswana intelligence officer (also known as 

“Butterfly”).   

Isaac Kgosi Former Chief of Intelligence in Botswana under President Ian 

Khama.  

Bryan Pallone Owner of Odyssey Energy LLC, a Nevada-based company 

alleged to have received unauthorised funds from Botswana 

government accounts. 

Claus Colling  Owner of Flug Werk Gmbh, a German company alleged to 

have received unauthorised funds originating from Botswana 

government accounts. 

Rosa Maria Peralta  President of Atlantic Beverage Solutions, Inc., a Miami, 

Florida-based company alleged to have received 

unauthorised funds originating from Botswana government 

accounts. 

Colin McGregor An unidentified “broker” and “financial expert”, alleged to 

have distributed hundreds of millions of dollars in 

unauthorised funds originating from Botswana government 

accounts. 

Kgomotso Prince Mokgatlha  Director of Kgetham (Pty) Ltd, a South African company 

alleged to have received USD 48 million in unauthorised 

funds originating from Botswana government accounts. 
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INTRODUCTION 

 

On 6th June 2020, Alaco Limited and Omnia Strategy LLP (“Alaco” and “Omnia” and, collectively, “We”) 

were instructed by Ambassador Bridgette Motsepe (“Ambassador Motsepe”) to undertake an 

independent review of various allegations lodged against her in legal proceedings now before the High 

Court of Botswana in Gaborone.  Specifically, in the case of the State versus former Botswanan 

intelligence officer Welheminah Mphoeng Maswabi (aka “Butterfly”), on 28th October 2019 the State 

submitted an affidavit written and signed by Jako Hubona, an investigator with the Directorate on 

Corruption and Economic Crime (the “Affidavit”).  In the Affidavit, it is alleged that in 2008, while 

serving as President of Botswana, Serêtsê Khama Ian Khama (“President Khama”) arranged for the 

opening of certain “Special Unit Accounts” at the Bank of Botswana (the national reserve bank), after 

which large sums of cash flowed out of at least one of these accounts to various international financial 

institutions.  Ultimately, it is alleged, a significant amount of these funds flowed into a variety of South 

African and offshore bank accounts, over which Ambassador Motsepe is said to be a signatory.   

 

The State’s case appears to be that President Khama and Ambassador Motsepe intended to use these 

funds to orchestrate political unrest and fund opposition groups against the current President of 

Botswana, Mokgweetsi Masisi.  Both Ambassador Motsepe and President Khama have denied any 

involvement in the activities described in the Affidavit, and have further denied any knowledge of, or 

involvement in, the movements of money alleged in the Affidavit. 

 

We have been instructed as independent experts to scrutinise the Affidavit and test the supporting 

evidence.  In particular, we have focused on the alleged fund flows across a number of international 

and South African corporate entities, individuals and financial institutions.  We have reviewed in detail 

not only the Affidavit, but also its Annexures, related legal filings, professional reports from third 

parties, corporate filings, and other documentation.  We have undertaken open source research in a 

number of jurisdictions, including but not limited to South Africa, Hong Kong, Indonesia, Germany, the 

United Kingdom, and the United States.  We also have contacted and engaged with numerous 

companies, individuals and financial institutions referenced in the Affidavit.  Ultimately, we have 

sought to understand whether the fund flows in the Affidavit are supported by the facts.   

 

This report presents our findings (which may be supplemented in the future, as and when new 

evidence comes to light).  
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Alaco Limited 

 

Established in 2002, Alaco is a leading business intelligence and investigations firm, based in London 

and operating globally on behalf of its clients on both transactional and contentious matters.  In 

support of its clients, Alaco’s multilingual staff draws on its experience from a variety of backgrounds, 

such as law, government, journalism, financial services, and diplomacy. 

 

www.alaco.com  

 

Omnia Strategy LLP 

 

Omnia is an international law firm founded in 2011 by Cherie Blair CBE, QC.  Omnia specialises in 

bespoke dispute resolution and dispute prevention around the world, through its 

unique Law+ approach, combining legal expertise with experience across policy, business and 

communications.  Omnia is trusted by government, corporate and private clients to provide legal and 

strategic counsel on a broad spectrum of matters, including international arbitration, business and 

human rights, public international law and more unconventional problem-solving. 

 

www.omniastrategy.com  
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 

We have conducted a thorough and forensic review of the Affidavit and its supporting Annexures.  It 

is our expert opinion that, while the Affidavit is authentic, a substantial amount of the content is a 

fabrication.  All of the critical allegations concerning President Khama and Ambassador Motsepe are 

undoubtedly false.  From seemingly minor errors and inconsistencies to glaring inaccuracies and 

falsehoods, the Affidavit lacks credibility and offers no reliable evidence to support the allegations 

against President Khama and Ambassador Motsepe.  While any single anomaly in the Affidavit might 

be explained away as negligence or oversight, the sheer weight of deficiencies belies any such excuse.  

Indeed, the extent of the untruths we have uncovered gives rise to serious questions about the 

motives behind the Affidavit, though these are beyond the scope of our instructions. 

 

Among other findings detailed in this report, we note the following: 

 

• Scores of typographical errors and other inconsistencies of form are evident throughout the 

Affidavit.  Account numbers, transaction values, email addresses, name spellings and other 

data are inconsistent.  This suggests at least an ill-conceived and poorly executed work of 

drafting.  It also raises the possibility that these inconsistencies were intentionally placed in 

the document to obfuscate and frustrate any attempt to analyse and rebut the allegations 

properly.  

 

• Mr. Moses Dinekere Pelaelo, the Governor of the Bank of Botswana, is reported to have 

informed Botswanan parliamentarians in November 2019 that no funds were transferred out 

the bank as alleged in the Affidavit and that, indeed, the Bank of Botswana has never held that 

amount of money in its account in the first place. 

 

• The first tranche of the alleged international fund flows – the 2009 transfer out of the Bank of 

Botswana to “Odyssey Energy LLC” at HSBC in Hong Kong – could not have happened, and the 

allegation is false.  Odyssey Energy was not incorporated until October 2013, more than four 

years after the alleged transfer.  Bryan Pallone, owner of Odyssey Energy LLC, has fully denied 

the involvement of his company, and has further noted that he was the victim of a personal 

and corporate data theft in late 2018.  Mr. Pallone has provided a statement rebutting the 

allegations in the Affidavit pertaining to him and his company, with supporting documentation 
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to demonstrate that this transfer did not occur.  HSBC also has confirmed it has no record of 

this transaction.  

 

• The follow-on transfer in 2009 from the HSBC account to an account at Deutsche Bank (or 

“Dentsche Bank”, as written in the Affidavit) also could not have happened and is a fabrication.  

The Deutsche Bank account at issue – held by Flug Werk GmbH – was not opened until January 

2018, some nine years after the alleged transfer.  The managing director of Flug Werk, Mr. 

Claus Colling (also named in the Affidavit) denies the transfer ever occurred.  Mr. Colling has 

provided a statement rebutting the allegations in the Affidavit pertaining to him and his 

business.  Mr. Colling has provided supporting documentation which evidences that the 

account was opened in 2018.  He also has provided a copy of his passport which is listed in the 

Affidavit as linked to the 2009 transfer.  The passport, however, was issued in April 2010 and 

was not in existence at the time of the alleged transfer.  Mr. Colling has secured formal 

confirmation from his bank manager at Deutsche Bank that the account listed in the Affidavit 

was not opened until January 2018.  

 

• Annex D to the Affidavit lists Protonmail email addresses for Mr. Colling and Isaac Kgosi (the 

former Director General of the Directorate of Intelligence and Security Services in Botswana), 

with which it is alleged that the two men communicated and discussed the transfer to Mr. 

Colling of USD 100 million in 2009.  However, Protonmail did not exist as an email platform 

until 2013 and was not made available for use by the public until 2014.  The email exchanges 

could not have happened as alleged, and this detail continues a striking pattern of fabrication 

that characterises the Affidavit. 

 

• We have discounted and dismissed further tranches of the alleged flow of funds described in 

the Affidavit.  In the case of Atlantic Beverage Solutions (supposedly in receipt of USD 100 

million from an unidentified “financial controller and expert”), the owners of that company 

deny any knowledge of the transfer, have signed a statement to that effect, and have provided 

documentation supporting their position.  

 

• The Affidavit alleges that Mahkota Bank in Jakarta transferred USD 48 million to an account 

at Standard Bank in South Africa.  Mahkota Bank is not a registered or regulated financial 

institution in Indonesia or anywhere else.  On the contrary, it is widely discussed among online 
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sources as a “fake bank” and a vehicle for financial scams.  It is not a legitimate financial 

institution, and as such could not have been a conduit for the movement of money as alleged 

in the Affidavit.   

 

• Ambassador Motsepe is alleged to be a signatory over 17 accounts held in the names of Blue 

Flies Inc and Fire Flies Inc.  Official searches with the Corporate and Intellectual Property 

Commission in South Africa confirm that no such South African companies exist.  More broad-

based global searches also failed to identify relevant entities bearing these names.  

 

• Ambassador Motsepe and her legal counsel in South Africa have secured letters from the 

seven South African banks named in the Affidavit which, it is alleged, hold a total of 14 

accounts in the name of Blue Flies or Fire Flies, and over which Ambassador Motsepe is alleged 

to be a signatory.  Each bank has stated clearly and unequivocally that such accounts do not 

exist and, consequently, Ambassador Motsepe could not be a signatory on any such accounts.  

Letters have been sent to the three banks based outside South Africa (HSBC, Deutsche Bank 

and NatWest (which acquired RBS) in respect of the remaining three accounts.  HSBC has 

denied the existence of any such accounts, and we expect similar confirmations from RBS and 

Deutsche Bank in due course.  

 

• With respect to the personal and banking data referred to in the alleged international fund 

flows in Paragraph 19.2 of the Affidavit (HSBC, Deutsche Bank and Citibank), discussions with 

the impacted parties suggest that, while the data itself is largely accurate (e.g., names of 

individuals, passport numbers, etc.), this data was obtained illegitimately and used for the 

purposes of populating the Affidavit to give it a veneer of credibility.  All concerned parties 

have alerted us to breaches of their data in the past two to three years which would explain 

its usage in the Affidavit. 

 

• By all accounts, the Affidavit appears to be a hastily produced document, riddled with errors 

and inconsistencies and heavily reliant upon stolen banking data to fabricate false movements 

of money around the globe.   
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ANALYSIS OF THE AFFIDAVIT 

 

For purposes of our investigation, the relevant portion of the Affidavit is Paragraph 19.  In broad terms, 

Paragraph 19 describes a series of fund flows originating in Botswana in 2008, then moving through 

several jurisdictions – including Hong Kong, Germany, the United States and Indonesia – before 

reaching a number of accounts in South Africa and various offshore accounts in 2019. 

 

Included as Exhibit A is a graphic illustration of the fund flows as alleged in Paragraph 19 of the 

Affidavit.  We have also included a copy of the Affidavit as Exhibit B, a copy of Annex D to the Affidavit 

as Exhibit C and a copy of Annex E to the Affidavit as Exhibit D (these are the annexes that are relevant 

to Paragraph 19). 

 

I. Creation of the Special Unit Accounts in Botswana 

The Affidavit states in Paragraph 19.1 that, on 9th June 2008, three Special Unit Accounts were created 

by the Bank of Botswana under the instruction of President Khama and Mr. Kgosi.  Mr. Kgosi was, at 

the time, the Director General of the Directorate of Intelligence and Security Services in Botswana.  

Paragraph 19.1 provides the following details for the Special Unit Accounts: 

 

1. Account Number 85857701411 [opening balance – BWP 908,396,200.35]2 (“Special Unit 

Account 1”); 

2. Account Number 85852700321 [opening balance – BWP 700,000,000]3 (“Special Unit Account 

2”); and 

3. Account Number 858887449310 [opening balance – BWP 592,500,000]4 (“Special Unit 

Account 3”). 

 

Paragraphs 30 and 31 of the Affidavit allege that after tracing the money flowing out from the Special 

Unit Accounts held at the Bank of Botswana, Hubona found there had been an outflow of more than 

USD 10 billion (over one half of the country’s estimated GDP).   

 

 

 
2 Approximately USD 145 million (ZAR 1.1 billion) at the time. 
3 Approximately USD 112 million (ZAR 851 million) at the time.  
4 Approximately USD 95 million (ZAR 722 million) at the time. 
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While the Affidavit alleges that three Special Unit Accounts were created, the document goes on to 

describe in detail the movement of funds from only one account: Special Unit Account 1.  It is alleged 

that in 2009 an amount of BWP 107 million+ (equivalent to approximately USD 16 million) exited the 

account (see following section).   

 

Beyond listing the three accounts once more at the beginning of Annex D, there is no further reference 

anywhere in the Affidavit or its Annexures to Special Unit Accounts 2 or 3 or their money movements.  

The alleged movement of BWP 107 million represents less than 1% of the funds that were allegedly 

siphoned off the Special Unit Accounts as stated in Paragraphs 30 and 31.  This is curious, and it raises 

questions about what has happened to these substantial funds, about which nothing more is said in 

the Affidavit.   

 

Curiously, when describing his investigative actions in Paragraphs 27-30, Hubona does not indicate 

whether he approached the Bank of Botswana for confirmation of the existence of these accounts.  

This apparent lack of a visible effort to seek confirmation on the existence of these accounts is all the 

more striking given that it has been reported that the alleged disappearance of more than USD 10 

billion from them was refuted by Mr. Moses Dinekere Pelaelo (“Mr. Pelaelo”), the Governor of the 

Bank of Botswana, the institution where the accounts were supposedly held.  Mr. Pelaelo is reported 

to have informed Botswanan parliamentarians in November 2019 that no such funds had been 

transferred out of the accounts and that, indeed, the Bank of Botswana has never held that amount 

of money in its account in the first place.5 

 

a. Discrepancies in Special Unit Account Numbering 

From the outset, there appears to be a catalogue of errors in the Affidavit.  The most benign 

explanation for some of these inconsistencies is that they are typographical in nature and the result 

of negligence.  It is also possible, however, that the document’s author(s) have intentionally inserted 

inconsistencies in an effort to frustrate a proper analysis of the allegations.  

 

 

 

 

 
5 https://www.thegazette.news/news/the-p100bn-heist/29365/#.XzZrDyhKiUl; https://www.thegazette.news/news/dpp-summons-bob-
governor-over-khama-kgosi/29728/#.XzZs_yhKiUl 
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We note the following with respect to the Special Unit Accounts: 

 

• Inconsistent Numbering for Special Unit Account 1 – As this is the only Special Unit Account 

from which the State claims any funds flowed out of Botswana, we draw particular attention 

to discrepancies in the account numbering of Special Unit Account 1.  In Paragraph 19.1, the 

account number is listed as 85857701411.  In Paragraph 19.2, however, the account number 

is listed as 85855770141.  At Annex D of the Affidavit (which purportedly contains the 

evidence upon which the Affidavit relies), the account once more is listed as 85857701411.  It 

is impossible to know which account number, if either, is accurate and worthy of scrutiny.  

 

• Inconsistent Numbering for Special Unit Account 3 – There is a further discrepancy between 

Special Unit Account 3’s account number given in the Affidavit and that listed in Annex D.  

While the number given for Special Unit Account 3 in the Affidavit is 858887449310, at Annex 

D the account is presented as having the number 85887449310.  Again, it is impossible to 

know which account number is correct, if either.   

 

II. The Special Unit Account → HSBC Transfer (Odyssey Energy LLC) 

In Paragraph 19.2, it is alleged that, on 20th July 2009, a transfer of BWP 107,578,532.746 was made 

from account 858557701417 at the Bank of Botswana to an account held at HSBC in Hong Kong, 

numbered 514-447030182216-223 >INDX17 056710526782012.  As alleged, the owner of the 

recipient account was a company named Odyssey Energy LLC, with its account signatory being one 

Bryan Pallone, an individual with passport number J446547079.  Neither the Affidavit nor its 

Annexures contain any information regarding the country of incorporation of Odyssey Energy LLC, 

Bryan Pallone’s nationality or other information – all of which would be expected in a properly 

evidenced legal submission, which the Affidavit purports to be.   

 

Despite the incomplete evidential record as well as the rebuttal by the Bank of Botswana, we have 

conducted our own research. 

 

 
6 Approximately USD 16 million or ZAR 127 million at the time. 
7 We assume this is an erroneous reference to Special Unit Account 1.  
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a. Odyssey Energy LLC and Bryan Pallone 

Odyssey Energy LLC was incorporated in Nevada on 9th October 2013 under company number 

E0489552013-3.  (see Exhibit E)  This entity, which has no discernible footprint in the media, is 

managed by a man named Bryan Pallone.      

 

b. Rebuttal by Bryan Pallone / Odyssey Energy 

Born on 13th October 1980, Bryan Pallone now resides in Fort Lauderdale, Florida.  We were able to 

reach Mr. Pallone to discuss the Affidavit and the allegations against him and his company in 

Paragraph 19.2.  Mr. Pallone strenuously denied any knowledge of these matters.  As with others to 

whom we spoke, Mr. Pallone acknowledged the accuracy of some of the details relating to himself 

and Odyssey Energy LLC, but categorically denied the transfer to his account in 2009.   

 

Mr. Pallone has provided a signed statement to us describing in his own words why these allegations 

are fabricated and could not have taken place.  A signed copy of Mr. Pallone’s statement is included 

as Exhibit F. 

 

Most notably, Mr. Pallone informed us that: 

 

• Odyssey Energy LLC did not maintain the HSBC account in Hong Kong until 2016, some seven 

years following the transfer alleged in the Affidavit.  This fact alone renders the 2009 transfer 

an impossibility, as Odyssey Energy LLC did not control the account until 2016.   

 

• Odyssey Energy LLC was not incorporated until October 2013, which renders a 2009 transfer 

of funds impossible.  

 

• Mr. Pallone’s Outlook email account was compromised in late 2018, requiring him to have 

all of his email and other data transferred onto a new server.  He expects that the corporate 

and banking data used in Paragraph 19.2 was initially obtained as part of that data breach. 

 

c. Inconsistency in Time 

Independent of Mr. Pallone’s compelling statement, other available evidence makes the alleged 

transfer to HSBC a practical impossibility.  The incorporation date of Odyssey Energy LLC, as reflected 

in official Nevada filings, is 9th October 2013 (see Exhibit G).  Thus, the Nevada entity Odyssey Energy 
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LLC – with which Mr. Pallone is clearly associated – did not exist until four years after the alleged 

transfer of funds from Special Unit Account 1.   

 

We view this discrepancy as dispositive insofar as the HSBC transfer is concerned.  It is simply 

implausible that the transfer from Special Unit Account 1 to an HSBC account in Hong Kong owned by 

Odyssey Energy LLC could have happened in the manner described in the Affidavit.  The receiving 

entity did not exist at the time of the alleged transfer.   

 

d. Rebuttal by HSBC 

In addition to Mr. Pallone’s direct outreach to HSBC in Hong Kong, we have provided HSBC with copies 

of the Affidavit and its Annexures, as well as the substance of our research.  All of this information was 

provided to the Global Head of Investigations at HSBC in London.  That department has formally stated 

that it has no record of any such transaction as alleged in Paragraph 19.2.  HSBC has confirmed as 

much in a letter to us.  In the absence of a court order, the letter itself remains confidential.  If such a 

court order is issued – possibly in the context of Ambassador Motsepe’s and President Khama’s 

anticipated legal proceedings against the State of Botswana – this letter may be produced in full.   

 

III. The HSBC → Deutsche Bank Transfer (Flug Werk GmbH) 

With compelling evidence to suggest the initial transfer from Special Unit Account 1 to HSBC could not 

have taken place, an analysis of all subsequent transfers is arguably moot.  However, for the sake of 

thoroughness we have examined the subsequent movements of money as set out in the Affidavit.   

 

Still in Paragraph 19.2, the Affidavit alleges that on 30th July 2009, Odyssey Energy LLC transferred USD 

100 million8 from its account 056710526782012 at HSBC Hong Kong to an account at Deutsche Bank 

in Germany numbered 0835236301675 (IBAN DE05 7007 0024 0059 975300), using SWIFT code 

DEUTDEDBMUC.  It is alleged that this account was affiliated with Deutsche Bank’s branch in Landshut, 

a town in Bavaria.9  

 

Once more, the Affidavit contains prominent typographical errors.  In this case, the almost universally 

known Deutsche Bank is referred to as “Dentsche Bank”.   

 

 
8 Approximately ZAR 794 million at the time. 
9 The IBAN and SWIFT code above are consistent with DB’s private and corporate banking branch in Munich.  The SWIFT code is associated 
with DB Privat- und Firmenkundenbank AG, a DB subsidiary.   
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a. Flug Werk GmbH and Claus Colling  

The recipient of the alleged transfer into Deutsche Bank is identified in Paragraph 19.2 as “Flugwork 

GmbH”, managed by a man named Claus Colling, who holds a passport numbered CFSMX8300. 

 

While the Affidavit refers erroneously to “Flugwork”, it seems clear the entity in question is in fact the 

German company Flug Werk Gesellschaft für historische Fluggeräte mbH (“Flug Werk”).  German 

corporate records indicate this entity was registered in the Land of Bavaria on 11th June 1996 with VAT 

ID DE179326617.  This matches the VAT ID provided in the Affidavit (despite the incorrect spelling of 

the company name) (see Exhibit H). 

 

Flug Werk is indeed managed by a man named Claus Colling, a retired German airline pilot who was 

born on 22nd October 1953 and, according to company filings, owns 50% of the company.  Mr. Colling 

and Flug Werk are best known for their work producing newly built units of historical German aircraft 

models such as Focke-Wulf FW 190.10  Mr. Colling has a fairly prominent media profile, having given 

interviews and provided commentary in both German and international press.  

 

We met with Mr. Colling in Germany, and detail the substance of those discussions below.  First, 

however (and entirely independent of Mr. Colling’s input), there are numerous inconsistencies in both 

the Affidavit and its Annexures with respect to the alleged transfer of funds to Deutsche Bank.  On 

their own, these inconsistencies cast significant doubt on the credibility of the allegations.  

 

b. Fabricated Email Account 

Annex D to the Affidavit contains purported copies of Mr. Colling’s email correspondence with Mr. 

Kgosi.  There are a number of facts that show this email exchange did not take place and that the 

account is fiction.   

 

• Annex D includes a copy of an email allegedly sent from Mr. Kgosi to Mr. Colling on 20th July 

2009.  The email, in which Mr. Kgosi instructs Mr. Colling to expect a USD 100 million transfer, 

is alleged to have been sent to the address “clauc.trader142@protonmail.com”.  The email 

account allegedly used by Mr. Colling does not exist currently and has never been active in 

the past.  On 20th July 2020 we performed a check to ascertain the availability of 

clauc.trader142@protonmail.com as an email account for registration.  As illustrated in 

 
10 http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/europe/1104025.stm; http://www.falcona-leipzig.de/themen/fw190.html 
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Exhibit I, the email address was available.  According to Protonmail’s Support Website, 

published on its website (see Exhibit J), Protonmail does not recycle usernames, meaning that 

even if the email account clauc.trader142@protonmail.com had been previously in use and 

was deleted, the username clauc.trader142@protonmail.com would not be available for 

registration.  It can be stated with confidence, therefore, that the email account has never 

existed. 

 

• The platform referenced for this email exchange – Protonmail – was not in existence at the 

time of the alleged emails in July 2009.  It is widely known that Protonmail’s development 

began in 2013 by CERN scientists in Geneva, and that it did not launch a beta version available 

to the public until 16th May 2014 (see Exhibit K).11  It is therefore an impossibility for Mr. Colling 

and Mr. Kgosi to have used Protonmail in July 2009, as is alleged in Annex D to the Affidavit.   

 

Other evidence of a more technical nature suggests the detail around these purported emails has been 

manipulated.12 

 

c. Rebuttal by Claus Colling / Flug Werk 

Through existing contacts we were able to open a dialogue with Mr. Colling over email.  We shared 

with him a copy of the Affidavit and Annex D, as well as the substance of our research.  Following a 

number of email exchanges, an Alaco executive (Mr. Adrian Stones) flew to Munich on Wednesday 

22nd July 2020 to meet with Mr. Colling and hear his version of events.   

 

While some of the biographical information in the Affidavit relating to Flug Werk’s data and his own 

details is correct, Mr. Colling unreservedly denied any knowledge of the fund flows alleged in the 

Affidavit.  He has provided a signed statement to us describing in his own words why these allegations 

are fabricated and could not have taken place.  He also has provided documentation to support the 

claims made in his statement.  A signed copy of Mr. Colling’s statement, along with the supporting 

documentation referenced therein, are included as Exhibit L.   

 

 

 
11 https://protonmail.com/blog/protonmail-now-public-beta/ 
12 Most notably, the data in Annex D contains a typographical error.  In the final portion of the message, where its metadata is shown, the 
email provider in the fields “Mailed by” and “Signed by” is listed as “Protomail”.  We note that under normal circumstances this metadata 
is produced automatically by the email system itself, thus making a typographic error such as this highly unlikely.  As such, it seems likely 
that the metadata was manipulated by human interference and is not genuine.  
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Most notably, Mr. Colling informed us that: 

 

• Flug Werk did not open a bank account with Deutsche Bank until January 2018.  This renders 

a transfer into a Flug Werk account at Deutsche Bank in July 2009 an impossibility.  Mr. Colling 

received formal confirmation from Deutsche Bank that the Flug Werk account was opened in 

January 2018, which he provided to us.     

 

• The passport number linked to Mr. Colling (CFSMX8300) is correct, but it was not issued until 

26th April 2010 – almost one year after the date of the alleged transfer into the Flug Werk 

account.  Mr. Colling has provided a scan of this now-expired passport.  

 

a. Rebuttal by Deutsche Bank 

As noted above, Deutsche Bank has officially confirmed that the Flug Werk account was not opened 

until January 2018.  Separately, we have shared the Affidavit, its Annexures and our own research with 

the Head of Business Intelligence and Financial Crime for Africa at Deutsche Bank.  This department is 

based in London and is actively reviewing the matter.   

 

IV. The Deutsche Bank → Colin McGregor Transfer 

Paragraph 19.2 of the Affidavit states that, on or around 10th August 2009, Colling of Flug Werk made 

a transfer of EUR 250 million13 to an account numbered 0257380252.  The document does not provide 

any information as to which bank or jurisdiction this bank account may relate.14  It only states that this 

amount was placed as “blocked funds MT799 and traded in UKXM on META trader 4 Trading Platform 

for forty months with monthly dividends of EUR 25 million”.   

 

According to the Affidavit and Annexures, such dividends were subsequently transferred by an 

individual named Colin McGregor (“Mr. McGregor”).  The document describes Mr. McGregor only as 

a “broker” and a “financial controller and expert”, who distributed the above-mentioned “dividends” 

into various accounts across Europe, America and Asia.  The Affidavit only provides details for two 

alleged transfers by Mr. McGregor: into Citibank in Florida and Mahkota Bank in Jakarta, Indonesia.  

We address those alleged transactions in later sections of this report.  

 
13 Approximately ZAR 2.8 billion at the time.  
14 The number given for this account coincides with the one given further below in the Affidavit for an account purportedly held at Mahkota 
Bank in Indonesia.  Nevertheless, it is unclear whether these two accounts are the same, as Mr. McGregor is not referenced as a signatory 
of the Mahkota Bank account and in fact is alleged to have transferred funds into that account in 2013 as well (see Section VII).    
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a. No Identifiable Broker Named “Colin McGregor” 

Unlike other individuals named in the Affidavit, such as Mr. Pallone and Mr. Colling, there are no 

personal or professional identifiers for Mr. McGregor provided in the document.  Given the reference 

to “UKXM”, we carried out searches in the UK against the name of Colin McGregor, in the hope of 

identifying an individual who might fit the profile; we found none.  No one by this name is registered 

as a financial broker or advisor with the UK’s Financial Conduct Authority.  If Mr. McGregor was a 

legitimate broker operating in the UK, he would be registered with – and regulated by – this agency.   

 

Media searches also failed to identify anyone of this name fitting the man described in the Affidavit.   

 

b. Discrepancy Between Affidavit and Annex D 

There are multiple and significant discrepancies between the Affidavit’s description of the alleged 

transfer by Mr. Colling, and the purported evidence for these claims found in Annex D, all of which 

cast doubt on the veracity of these allegations.   

 

Most notably: 

 

• Annex D provides an account with an entirely different number as the recipient of the transfer 

allegedly made on 10th August 2009 by Mr. Colling.15   

 

• Annex D claims the transfer was in US Dollars, whereas Paragraph 19.2 of the Affidavit states 

the transfer was in Euros. 

 

• The size of the transfer is also significantly different.  In Annex D it is stated to have been USD 

100 million as opposed to the EUR 250 million alleged in Paragraph 19.2.   

 

• The monthly dividends generated by these funds also vary between the Affidavit and Annex 

D, as the latter states that they were of USD 10 million each (less than half of the USD 25 

million indicated in Paragraph 19.2).   

 

We find it difficult to attach any logical explanation to such striking discrepancies.  

 
15 The account listed in Annex D as recipient of the funds has number 5528018836-649 and is further referred to there as the “Cooling 
Account” (presumably another erroneous reference to what ought to read “Colling Account”). 
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V. McGregor → Citibank Transfer (Atlantic Beverage Solutions Inc/ dba Urubras-USA) 

Paragraph 19.2 alleges that, on 14th October 2013, Mr. McGregor made a transfer of USD 100 million16 

– with the reference “Consultancy Payout 03” – to an account numbered 9317946380.  It is alleged 

that the account sits with Citibank at its branch in London Square, a shopping mall in Miami, Florida 

(USA).  The Affidavit notes that the account is owned by a company named Atlantic Beverage Solutions 

Inc/dba Urubras-USA (“Atlantic Beverage Solutions”).   

 

Annex D contains the same information as above and further discloses an email address as belonging 

to the bank officer who oversaw the transfer: Reyna.Hernandez@Citibank.com.   

 

a. Atlantic Beverage Solutions 

Atlantic Beverage Solutions Inc was registered in Florida on 2nd November 2010 (see Exhibit M).  

Operating under the brand ‘Urubras USA’, it specialises in the import, export and trading of foodstuffs 

and commodities, sourced mainly from Uruguay and Brazil.     

 

According to its official corporate filings in Florida, Atlantic Beverage Solutions is managed by two 

businesswomen: Rosa Maria Najara Peralta (“Ms. Peralta”) and Beatriz Cardozo Carreira (“Ms. 

Cardozo”), who respectively serve as President and CEO of the company (see Exhibit N). 

 

a. Discrepancy Between Paragraph 19.2 and Annex D 

There is a significant discrepancy between the size of the transfer into Citibank as described in the 

Affidavit and in Annex D.  At Paragraph 19.2 of the Affidavit, it is alleged that Mr. McGregor made a 

transfer to Atlantic Beverage Solutions of USD 100 million, but Annex D puts the figure at USD 10 

million. 

 

While the discrepancy may be dismissed as a typographical error, the preponderance of similar 

inconsistencies between transfer and balance values between the Affidavit and Annex D is 

noteworthy. 

 

b. Rebuttal by Atlantic Beverage Solutions 

As with Mr. Colling of Flug Werk, we have made contact with Ms. Peralta and Ms. Cardozo on this 

matter to hear their account and understand whether the allegations regarding Atlantic Beverage 

 
16 Approximately ZAR 995 million at the time. 
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Solutions have any basis in fact.  While acknowledging that the account referenced in the Affidavit is 

indeed owned by Atlantic Beverage Solutions, they have denied having any involvement in this matter 

and view the transfer as a fabrication, one which they believe relied on stolen personal and financial 

data.  A signed copy of their statement, along with the supporting documentation referenced therein, 

are included as Exhibit O.   

 

Among other discrepancies, Ms. Cardozo and Ms. Peralta noted that Reyna Hernandez did not become 

the bank officer in charge of the Atlantic Beverage Solutions account until 2017, four years following 

the date of the alleged transfer from Mr. McGregor (in which Reyna Hernandez is listed as the 

supervising bank officer at Citibank).  

 

Ms. Cardozo and Ms. Peralta highlighted another inconsistency that makes the alleged transfer to the 

Citibank account a practical impossibility.  They indicated that at the time of the alleged transfer 

(October 2013) Atlantic Beverage Solutions was not yet using the Urubras-USA brand and that the 

name “dba Urubras-USA” was not registered until 30th April 2014.17  Ms. Peralta and Ms. Cardozo 

attached a screenshot of this registration to their signed statement.  

 

Alaco independently verified via corporate records in the State of Florida that Atlantic Beverage 

Solutions filed an application to register the name ‘dba Urubras USA’ on 30th April 2014.  Therefore, it 

is clear that at the time the transfer allegedly ocurred Atlantic Beverage Solutions would not have 

attached ‘dba Urubras USA’ to its official documentation, as the name was not active given that it had 

not registered the brand yet.  A copy of the registration application with the State of Florida – obtained 

independently by Alaco – is included as Exhibit P.   

 

These two inconsistencies once more raise the suspicion that the corporate data of Atlantic Beverage 

Solutions was stolen after the date of alleged transfer and then used to populate the Affidavit with 

legitimate account details.  

 

VI. McGregor → Mahkota Bank Transfer (Mr. Congjun Zou) 

Paragraph 19.2 alleges that on 16th October 2013, Mr. McGregor made a transfer of USD 100 million18 

– under the reference “Consultancy Payout 21” – to an account numbered 0257380252 held at 

 
17 The suffix ‘dba Urubras-USA’ stands for ‘doing business as Urubras-USA’.  Companies in the United States are required to register a 
‘fictitious name’, also known as a ‘dba name’ whenever they operate under a trade name that is different from its registration name. 
18 Approximately ZAR 995 million at the time. 
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Mahkota Bank in Jakarta, Indonesia.19 20  The Affidavit further alleges that this account was owned by 

a Congjun Zou (“Mr. Zou”), and that a director of Mahkota Bank named Leonardus Khrisna (“Mr. 

Khrisna”) was involved as a bank officer on the transaction.  The Affidavit and Annex D both indicate 

that Mr. Khrisna’s email address is Leonardo@mahkoto-bank.co. 

 

As detailed below, Mahkota Bank was incorporated in November 2019, more than six years after the 

transfer by McGregor.  Furthermore, it is not a legitimate financial institution and would not have 

been authorised or able to receive these funds (or, indeed, to send funds on to Standard Bank in South 

Africa as detailed in Section VII below).   

 

a. Congjun Zou 

We have not identified Mr. Zou as a real individual.  Although several individuals residing in Indonesia 

bearing this name were identified in searches of social networks, legal records and elsewhere in the 

public domain, a lack of personal identifiers in the Affidavit and Annex D make it exceedingly difficult 

positively to confirm or deny whether any of these individuals are the same as the one referenced in 

the Affidavit. 

 

b. Mahkota Bank is not a Legitimate Institution 

Records maintained by the Department of Law and Human Rights of Indonesia, the country’s 

corporate registry, show that Mahkota Bank was incorporated as PT Mahkota Bank Internasional on 

1st November 2019 under tax registration number 93.425.098.6-015.000 (see Exhibit Q for a copy of 

the extract from the Indonesian corporate registry as well as its translation).  According to these 

records, Mr. Khrisna is a 20% shareholder and serves as Chair of its Board of Directors.21  

 

Notwithstanding the fact that these records show that Mahkota Bank was incorporated as an entity 

more than six years after it allegedly received funds from Mr. McGregor, there are multiple indicators 

in the public domain that strongly suggest Mahkota Bank is not a legitimate financial institution and 

does not carry out regular banking activities.  Furthermore, it is apparent from publicly available 

information that Mahkota Bank has been used as a front for financial scams (see below).  For these 

 
19 The funds of this transaction were reportedly “blocked and the blocked funds letter of guarantee number was 0430/CBF-MB/IX/2017”. 
20 As was the case with the Atlantic Beverage Solutions transfer, there is a discrepancy between the amount allegedly transferred to Mahkota 
Bank as detailed in the Affidavit (USD 100 million) and in Annex D (USD 10 million).  
21 Mr. Khrisna’s email address as provided in the Affidavit and Annex D (Leonardo@mahkoto-bank.co) is not associated with Mahkota Bank’s 
website (mahkota-bank.co).   While this inconsistency could be attributed perhaps to yet another typographical error, the fact that the email 
account given in the Affidavit also contains a misspelling of Mr. Khrisna’s first name as “Leonardo” is unusual. 



 

 

 
 
19th August 2020  

 25 
 

reasons, we believe that Mahkota Bank could not have acted as an intermediary for the flow of funds, 

either in October 2013 or February 2019 (the latter being the alleged USD 48 million outflow from 

Mahkota Bank to Standard Bank in South Africa, as detailed in Section VII below).   

 

The clearest evidence of Mahkota Bank not being a proper financial institution is the fact that it is not 

registered with regulatory bodies in Indonesia.  A search of records maintained by the Indonesian 

Financial Services Authority (“OJK”) and the Indonesian Central Securities Depository (“KSEI”) indicate 

that there is no entity named Mahkota Bank that is authorised to act in Indonesia (see Exhibit R).   

 

An analysis of Mahkota Bank’s website reveals that the domain mahkota-bank.co was created for the 

first time in August 2013, meaning that prior to that date, it did not have a website (see Exhibit S).  

This means that the first transfer allegedly made by Mr. McGregor to Mr. Zou’s account at Mahkota 

Bank took place less than two months after the institution had first established an internet presence.  

This appears an unlikely coincidence when considered alone, and even less likely when taken in the 

broader context of the delinquencies throughout the Affidavit, as well as the fact that Mahkota Bank 

did not exist as an entity at the time.   

 

In addition, Mahkota Bank’s website does not appear to have been updated since shortly after it was 

created.  In its “Finance Information” section, the website gives the international exchange rate of 

several currencies as it stood in October 2013 (see Exhibit T).  Furthermore, nearly all of the pictures 

on Mahkota Bank’s website originate from websites that sell stock photos.  Examples of this can be 

found in Exhibit U.  None of this suggests a legitimate financial enterprise.  

 

Other than its website, Mahkota Bank has a very tenuous footprint in the public domain and no 

references in the international press, save for a handful of recent mentions that deal with the contents 

of the Affidavit.   

 

A search in Google Maps Indonesia and other business directories reveals that Mahkota Bank operates 

no branches or banking offices (see Exhibit V).22  Furthermore, Mahkota Bank’s registration address, 

which is also provided on its website at its contact address, is a mixed development that does not host 

its office or a bank branch.23  Alaco conducted a visit of these premises and verified that Mahkota Bank 

 
22 Google Maps returns a number of partial matches to institutions whose name includes the word “mahkota” (“crown” in Bahasa language), 
but none of them are a match for the institution through which funds flowed in 2013 and 2019.  
23 Eighty Eight @ Kasablanca Tower A, Jl. Raya Casablanca kav. 88, Jakarta, 12870 
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is not listed among the tenants of the building.  Furthermore, the entire floor where Mahkota Bank is 

registered and purportedly headquartered is occupied by the local office of US company Amway, a 

multi-level marketing company that sells vitamins, food supplements and slimming drinks.  Amway 

and Mahkota Bank have no known relationship with each other.  Several photographs taken during 

this visit are included as Exhibit W. 

 

Given the purported scale of its operations and its long running activity since the 1970s, it is 

reasonable to expect that Mahkota Bank would have a tangible footprint, not only in the media but 

also on professional networking websites such as LinkedIn.  As best as we can determine, however, 

no users of LinkedIn list Mahkota Bank as a current or previous place of employment.  This is telling.  

 

c. Participation in Financial Scams 

Aside from its website and a small number of blogs rehashing its contents, nearly all references to 

Mahkota Bank on the internet are contained in websites claiming that the entity is in fact a “fake 

bank”, one that has been used to conduct financial scams or other illicit operations.   

 

The website Scamsurvivors.com operates a forum in which users raise awareness of illicit financial 

schemes by way of sharing copies of documents and correspondence they have had with scam artists.  

In an entry published in July 2017, a forum user shared copies of several “fake documents” that he 

had received.24  Among the documents included in the post, there is a letter and three bank drafts for 

amounts between EUR 100 million and EUR 200 million bearing the name and logo of Mahkota Bank.  

These bear many hallmarks of a counterfeit draft scam (see Exhibit X).25 

 

Similarly, the website Ripoffscams.com, which is also dedicated to raising awareness of internet 

financial scams, alleges that Mahkota Bank is a “fake bank” with “no internet presence besides its own 

site, its own blog and other websites that state it is fraudulent”.  Ripoffscams.com provides a copy of 

what appears to be a counterfeit bank draft for EUR 500 million from Mahkota Bank dated 24th January 

2017.  Tellingly, this bank draft is signed by “Leonardus Khrisna” (see Exhibit Y, Exhibit Z).  

 

 
24 https://scamsurvivors.com/forum/viewtopic.php?f=6&t=45616&p=140591 
25 Counterfeit draft scams were described in the following manner by the US Department of Justice in a public advisory note: “Counterfeit 
check scams always use the same basic scenario; the fraudsters send counterfeit checks to potential victims and con them into depositing 
it in their bank account. The fraudsters then ask that part of the money be returned in cash or by wire transfer. By the time a victim learns 
from the bank that the check is bogus, it’s too late.” See: https://www.justice.gov/archive/opa/docs/08public-advisory-counterfeit.pdf 
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Yet another website, thewhistleblowers.org, also published what appear to be several documents 

used in a financial scam involving Mahkota Bank.26  The website includes copies of purported letters 

from Mahkota Bank dated 6th September 2013, shortly after its website was first registered, in which 

a third party is informed of the availability of USD 10 billion held in a bank account at Mahkota Bank 

for investment purposes.  While thewhistleblowers.org does not indicate that Mahkota Bank was used 

for a financial scam, the contents of the letter posted on the website are highly suggestive that they 

were produced as part of one, as they point to the existence of a (fictitious) investment opportunity 

involving a shell company with no public profile but owning large sums of capital deposited in the bank 

(see Exhibit AA, Exhibit BB, Exhibit CC).27  

 

SWIFT Code 

Despite not being registered as a financial institution with the regulators in Indonesia, Mahkota Bank 

does maintain the SWIFT code MAAKIDJ1, as shown on the SWIFT register (see Exhibit DD).  SWIFT 

codes, which are also commonly known as BIC codes, are the equivalent of an ID number in the 

international banking network.  When sending payments from one bank to another, institutions 

generally rely on the SWIFT code to identify the correct entity as recipient of the payment.  

 

While at first sight the existence of this code seems to suggest that Mahkota Bank may be a legitimate 

institution, it is known that ‘fake banks’ have been able in the past to obtain a SWIFT code by 

presenting bogus documentation to gain the appearance of legitimacy.  In December 2019, the 

Organised Crime and Corruption Reporting Project (“OCCRP”), a European investigative journalism 

consortium that has been internationally recognised for its work, noted in an article that at least 17 

fake banks from The Gambia had been able to obtain “non-connected SWIFT codes”, which are codes 

of a lower grade than those generally used by legitimate institutions.  The purpose of this operation, 

the article alleged, was to gain undue legitimacy in a scheme that operated until at least August 2019.28   

 

According to Biclookup.com, a website that provides open source information on SWIFT codes, non-

connected SWIFT codes are allocated to non-financial institutions.  These codes, as a general rule, can 

be identified by having the number “1” in the eighth position of its code (see Exhibit EE).  Given 

Mahkota Bank’s SWIFT code is MAAKIDJ1, i.e., possessing a number “1” and in the eighth position on 

 
26 Thewhistleblowers.org is no longer active.  However, a copy of it is available from the Internet Wayback Machine. 
27 The invitation was to a business opportunity involving a Panama-registered shell company with no discernible footprint which has $10 
billion sitting in an account.  
28 https://www.occrp.org/en/29leaks/fancy-gambian-paper 
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its code, this information suggests that its SWIFT code is non-connected and that the institution is 

non-financial in nature, further suggesting that it does not operate as a legitimate bank. 

 

While the OCCRP article does not name Mahkota Bank, it does demonstrate that the existence of a 

SWIFT code on its own is not evidence of the existence of legitimate financial institution.  Parties 

interested in creating the illusion of legitimacy have in the past been able to take advantage of the 

system to obtain a code. 

 

VII. Mahkota Bank → Standard Bank Transfer (Kgetham (Pty) Ltd) 

As noted above, Paragraph 19.2 of the Affidavit alleges that, on 15th February 2019, Mr. Khrisna 

transferred USD 48 million29 from the account numbered 0257380252 at Mahkota Bank to an account 

numbered 200904299 held at the Alberton Branch of Standard Bank in South Africa.  According to 

information contained in Paragraph 19.7 of the Affidavit, these funds were cleared by the South 

African Reserve Bank on 21st February 2019.   Returning to Paragraph 19.2, the holder of this Standard 

Bank account is said to be a company named Kgetham (Pty) Ltd (“Kgetham”), managed by a man 

named Kgomotso Prince Mokgatlha (“Mr. Mokgatlha”).  Paragraph 19.7 further alleges that on 12th 

February 2019,  Mr. Kgosi became a signatory of this account.  

 

a. Rebuttal by the South African Reserve Bank 

On 13th August 2020 the South African Reserve Bank refuted the existence of the alleged transfer into 

Kgetham’s account via a letter addressed to Ambassador Motsepe and her legal counsel, Dario Milo 

of Webber Wentzel.  The South African Reserve Bank stated that it could not find any record of the 

transfer itself, of the payment having been cleared, or of any cross-border flow of funds into or out of 

South Africa in the amount referred to in the Affidavit.  A copy of the letter is included as Exhibit FF. 

 

b. Rebuttal by Mr. Mokgatlha / Kgetham 

On 12th November 2019 Mr. Mokgatlha deposed to an affidavit in South Africa in the case concerning 

Butterfly, in which he refuted these allegations.  Mr Mokgatlha stated that no transfer with a value of 

USD 48 million was made into Kgetham’s account, that he does not know Mr. Kgosi, and that he 

himself is the sole signatory of the company’s accounts.   

 

 
29 Approximately ZAR 684 million at the time. 
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In addition, Mr. Mokgatlha stated that on 25th September 2019 he was interviewed about the alleged 

money transfer by, among others, Mr. Hubona.  Mr. Mokgatlha stated that during this interview he 

refuted the existence of the alleged USD 48 million transfer into Kgetham and that he deposed to this 

fact in an affidavit, a copy of which was provided to Mr. Hubona and the interviewing team.  Copies 

of both affidavits are included as Exhibit GG.   

 

While the Affidavit makes reference to the fact that Mr. Hubona met Mr. Mokgatlha in South Africa, 

it is striking and deeply concerning that there is no reference to Mr. Mokgatlha's rebuttal of the 

allegations in the Affidavit which concern him.   

 

c. Inconsistencies and Typographical Errors 

This section of the Affidavit and Annex D contains numerous inconsistencies and typographical errors.  

Most notably: 

 

• Kgetham’s account receives several numbers throughout the Affidavit.  While initially the 

account is described as having number 200904299, later in the document the number 

provided is 20029044299.   

 

• While Paragraph 19.2 names the company owning this account as “Kgetham Pty Ltd”, in 

Paragraphs 19.6 and 19.7, the same entity is referred to as “Kgatham Pty Ltd”, and in Annex 

D the entity is spelled Kgetha (Pty) Ltd.  

 

• In Annex D, the date when the transfer into Kgetham’s account was cleared is given as 

21/02/20019.  

 

The reason for these inconsistencies is unclear.  While it is conceivable that a number of typographical 

errors were unwittingly introduced during the preparation of the Affidavit, it is less clear why there 

are typographical errors in Annex D (which in theory contains the raw, unprocessed evidence on which 

the claims have been based).  

 

d. As a Non-Entity, Mahkota Bank Could Not Have Initiated the Transfer to South Africa   

Beyond the errors outlined above, it bears repeating that Mahkota Bank in Jakarta has been associated 

repeatedly with financial scams and is not a licensed and regulated bank in Indonesia (or anywhere 



 

 

 
 
19th August 2020  

 30 
 

else, as far as we can ascertain).  It logically follows, therefore, that a non-entity could not have 

transferred funds – much less USD 48 million – to the Standard Bank account in South Africa.   

 

VIII. Standard Bank / Kgetham → Blue Flies, Fire Flies and Lazarus Transfers 

Paragraph 19.3 alleges that various amounts of money were transferred out of Kgetham’s account at 

Standard Bank to several different accounts held by three companies: (i) Blue Flies Inc (“Blue Flies”); 

(ii) Fire Flies Inc (“Fire Flies”); and (iii) Lazarus Motor Company (PTY) LTD (“Lazarus”).30  The accounts 

which allegedly received the transfers – and the corresponding amounts – are as follows: 

 

Accounts Allegedly Held by Blue Flies 

BANK ACCOUNT NUMBER AMOUNT/BALANCE 

ABSA BANK (CFC) 40892246893 USD 2 900 000.0031 

ABSA BANK (TRUST/CFC) 40892246896 USD 4 760 000.0032 

NEDBANK (CFC) 8061923840 USD 5 800 000.0033 

 

Accounts Allegedly Held by Fire Flies 

BANK ACCOUNT NUMBER AMOUNT/BALANCE 

BIDVEST (CFC/OFFSHORE DIV) 8143377210 USD 3 385 500.0034 

STANDARD 0450077114 USD 2 000 000.0035 

NEDBANK (CFC) 1099810081 USD 7 350 200.0036 

 

Accounts Allegedly Held by Lazarus Motor Company 

BANK ACCOUNT NUMBER AMOUNT/BALANCE 

FIRST NATIONAL BANK 62553456461 USD 3 500 000.0037 

 

a. Absence of Identifiers & Underlying Account Data 

It is noteworthy that Paragraph 19.3 provides no significant details regarding the accounts which 

allegedly received funds from the Kgetham account.  In addition to the absence of information 

regarding the country and branch of registration of these accounts, nowhere in the Affidavit is there 

 
30 Lazarus Motor Company is a company registered in South Africa on 19th December 1957 under company number M1957004171. 
31 Approximately ZAR 48 million. 
32 Approximately ZAR 78.5 million. 
33 Approximately ZAR 96 million. 
34 Approximately ZAR 56 million. 
35 Approximately ZAR 33 million. 
36 Approximately ZAR 121 million. 
37 Approximately ZAR 57.7 million. 
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information on how many transfers there were, the dates on which they occurred, the banking officers 

responsible for these accounts, payment references, etc.   

 

It also is noteworthy that Annex E to the Affidavit (which purports to hold information relating to the 

Blue Flies, Fire Flies and Lazarus accounts) does not contain any information substantiating the claims 

in the Affidavit that funds were transferred from Kgetham’s account at Standard Bank to the 

companies.   

 

The absence of underlying data on these accounts and transfers is most noteworthy because these 

data points were present in Paragraph 19.2 when describing the alleged international transfers into 

and out of HSBC, Deutsche Bank, Citibank and Mahkota Bank, and were also backed by data present 

in Annex D (albeit unconvincingly).  We believe this may be explained by the theory that much of the 

data used in the international transfer allegations in Paragraph 19.2 was legitimate data obtained and 

used illegitimately (i.e., stolen data), whereas a similar cache of data for the South African banks was 

not available for inclusion.  

 

b. Additional Blue Flies & Fire Flies Accounts 

In addition, in both Paragraph 19.9 and Annex E, it is alleged that Blue Flies and Fire Flies maintain ten 

and seven offshore accounts, respectively.  Within this list of 17 accounts, there are six accounts that 

were previously described as held by Blue Flies and Fire Flies in Paragraph 19.2 of the Affidavit, and 

described above.  These ‘repeated’ accounts are underlined in the list below in this section.  

 

According to Paragraph 19.8, the signatories of these accounts are the individuals Bridgette Motsepe 

Radebe, Hilton Lorato Motswana, Debbie Brown, Charles Van Der Walt and Lucky Phume. 

 

These accounts are described as being “offshore”.  This is presumed to imply they are non-Botswanan, 

and given the preponderance of South African banks in Paragraph 19.8, it also is presumed that most 

of these “offshore” banks are located in South Africa.  This point is never explicitly made in the 

Affidavit, however, which contains no information about the countries in which these accounts are 

located.   

 

Neither the Affidavit nor its Annexures make any statement regarding the provenance of the funds 

deposited in these accounts.  While not explicitly stated, the obvious implication is that the funds 
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originated in one or more of the three Special Unit Accounts allegedly created with the Bank of 

Botswana on 9th June 2008.  

 

Offshore accounts allegedly held by Blue Flies (Paragraph 19.9): 

BANK ACCOUNT NUMBER AMOUNT/BALANCE 

STANDARD BANK (CFC) 02221013430 USD 13 391 020.7538 

FNBBSA 6113199005 USD 250 760.1339 

BIDVEST (CFC/OFFSHORE DIV) 8221093548 USD 17 660 419.2340 

RBS (OFFSHORE-UK) 60093232791 USD 33 900 550.0041 

DB(OFFSHORE-GER) 495858730027 USD 298 192.5742 

HSBC(OFFSHORE-DIV) 0922809116 USD 150 300 000.0043 

CITI BANK 71036204945 USD 290 500 000.0044 

ABSA BANK (CFC) 40892246893 USD 2 900 000.0045 

ABSA BANK (TRUST/CFC) 40892246896 USD 4 760 000.0046 

NEDBANK (CFC) 8061923840 USD 5 800 000.0047 

 

Offshore accounts allegedly held by Fire Flies (Paragraph 19.10): 

BIDVEST (CFC/OFFSHORE DIV) 8143377210 USD 3 385 500.0048 

STANDARD 0450077114 USD 2 000 000.0049 

NEDBANK (CFC) 1099810081 USD 7 350 200.0050 

ABSA BANK (CFC) 40889224610 USD 3 829 730.4451 

STANDARD (CFC) 0491033410 USD 890 418.3352 

INVESTEC (CP/OFFSHORE DIV) 08813395850 USD 390 700 00053 

ALLAN GRAY (CP/OFFSHORE DIV) 9198998359 USD 88 500 000.0054 

 

 
38 Approximately ZAR 221 million. 
39 Approximately ZAR 4.1 million. 
40 Approximately ZAR 291.3 million. 
41 Approximately ZAR 559.3 million. 
42 Approximately ZAR 4.9 million. 
43 Approximately ZAR 2.4 billion. 
44 Approximately ZAR 4.7 billion. 
45 Approximately ZAR 48 million. 
46 Approximately ZAR 78.5 million. 
47 Approximately ZAR 96 million. 
48 Approximately ZAR 56 million. 
49 Approximately ZAR 33 million. 
50 Approximately ZAR 121 million. 
51 Approximately ZAR 63.1 million. 
52 Approximately ZAR 14.6 million. 
53 Approximately ZAR 6.4 billion. 
54 Approximately ZAR 1.4 billion. 



 

 

 
 
19th August 2020  

 33 
 

c. Naming Inconsistencies Regarding Blue Flies and Fire Flies 

While in Paragraph 19.3 and in Annex E, Blue Flies and Fire Flies are referred to respectively as having 

the names ‘Blue Flies Inc’ and ‘Fire Flies Inc’, in other parts of the Affidavit the companies receive a 

number of different names.  In particular: 

 

• In the table accompanying Paragraph 19.3 the companies are referred to as ‘Blue Flies Inc Pty 

Ltd’ and ‘Fire Flies Inc Pty Ltd’. 

 

• In Paragraphs 19.8, 19.9 and 19.10 the companies are named ‘Blue Flies (PTY LTD)’ and ‘Fire 

Flies (PTY LTD)’. 

 

• In Paragraph 31 the companies are referred to as ‘Blue (PTY LTD)’ and ‘fire flies(PTY LTD)’. 

 

While in isolation, some of these discrepancies could be attributed to carelessness or typographical 

errors, given the sheer abundance of discrepancies it is difficult to attach a reasonable explanation.  

 

d. No Record that the Blue Flies and Fire Flies Entities Exist 

Annex E indicates that Blue Flies and Fire Flies were registered on 19th July 2017.  Neither the Affidavit 

nor the Annexures reference at any point the country of incorporation of Blue Flies and Fire Flies.  

There is no suggestion that they are incorporated outside South Africa.   

 

We conducted searches in the website registry of the Corporate and Intellectual Property Commission 

(“CIPC”), the state body in charge of company registration in South Africa.  Searches conducted under 

the names “Blue Flies” and “Fire Flies” (with all possible corporate suffixes) did not return any positive 

matches (see Exhibit HH).  In addition to this, we conducted searches on OpenCorporates, a database 

of corporate information which contains information for over 185 million companies around the 

globe.  These searches also returned a negative result for these corporate entities (see Exhibit II).  

While a company named “Fire Flies, Inc” was found in Kentucky, this entity could not be a match for 

the one described in the Affidavit, as it was incorporated on 31st May 1962 and dissolved on 1st 

November 1995. 
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e. Banks Refute the Existence of the Blue Flies and Fire Flies Accounts 

In addition to a lack of evidence supporting the existence of the Blue Flies and Fire Flies corporate 

entities, legal counsel acting for Ambassador Motsepe in South Africa have engaged with and secured 

letters from each of the South African-based banks alleged to hold accounts in the name of either Blue 

Flies or Fire Flies (and over which it is alleged that Ambassador Motsepe is an account signatory).  

While varying in form, each of these letters confirms that Ambassador Motsepe is not a signatory to 

any such accounts.  Indeed, no such accounts are held in the name of the Blue Flies or Fire Flies 

entities.  Copies of these letters and a confirmatory affidavit attesting to their authenticity, signed by 

Dario Milo of Webber Wentzel (as legal counsel to Ambassador Motsepe), are included as Exhibit JJ.   

 

f. Additional Inconsistencies between the Affidavit and Annex E 

Regarding the 17 Blue Flies and Fire Flies accounts listed in the Affidavit, there are multiple and major 

inconsistencies between the allegations contained in Paragraphs 19.9 and 19.10, and the evidence 

substantiating them in Annex E: 

 

• The balance for the Blue Flies account numbered 40892246893 held with ABSA BANK (CFC) in 

Annex E is given as USD 11,750,200.  This is significantly different from the value given in 

Paragraph 19.9, which is USD 2,900,000. 

 

• The balance for the Blue Flies account numbered 40892246896 held with ABSA BANK 

(TRUST/CFC) is given in Annex E as USD 15,985,377.34.  This is significantly different from the 

value given in Paragraph 19.9, which is USD 4,760,000. 

 

• The balance for the Blue Flies account numbered 8061923840 held with NEDBANK (CFC) is 

given in Annex E as USD 7,900,000.  This is significantly different from the value given in 

Paragraph 19.9, which is USD 5,800,000. 

 

• In Annex E, the Blue Flies account numbered 02221013430 held with STANDARD BANK CFC is 

presented as having number 0222101340, that is, missing one digit. 

 

• The balance of the Fire Flies account numbered 1099810081 held with NEDBANK [CFC] is given 

in Annex E as USD 15,500,000.  This is significantly different from the value given in Paragraph 

19.10, which is USD 7,350,200. 
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• The balance of the Fire Flies account numbered 8143377210 held with BIDVEST 

(CFC/OFFSHORE DIV) is given in Annex E as USD 27,450,310.68.  This is significantly different 

from the value given in Paragraph 19.10, which is USD 3,385,500. 

 

• Paragraph 31 alleges that the above listed 17 accounts held by Fire Flies and Blue Flies have a 

combined balance of approximately USD 10.16 billion.55  However, the combined balance of 

these accounts, according to the information contained in Paragraphs 19.9 and 19.10 of the 

Affidavit and in Annex E is approximately USD 1 billion, around ten times lower.56  It is difficult 

to attach a benign explanation to these discrepancies and the overstatement of these 

amounts in the closing remarks of the Affidavit. 

  

 
55 The exact amount indicated in paragraph 31 is USD 10,164,167,790.70. 
56 The combined balance of the accounts as show in paragraphs 19.9 and 19.10 of the Affidavit is USD 1,016,416,791.45.  The combined 
balance as shown in Annex E is USD 1,068,806,978.79.  The difference between these two numbers is due to the above-mentioned 
unexplained discrepancies in the balances of several accounts between the Affidavit and Annex E.  
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EXHIBIT B – Copy of the Hubona Affidavit 
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EXHIBIT C – Copy of Annex D to the Hubona Affidavit 
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EXHIBIT D - Copy of Annex E to the Hubona Affidavit 
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EXHIBIT E – Extract of Nevada Corporate Records For Odyssey Energy LLC 
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EXHIBIT F – Signed Statement by Bryan Pallone 
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EXHIBIT G – Articles of Organisation of Odyssey Energy LLC 
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EXHIBIT H – Extract of Flug Werk’s Corporate Record 
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EXHIBIT I – Printscreen of Registration Attempt for clauc.trader142@protonmail.com 
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EXHIBIT J – Printscreen of Protonmail’s Support Website 
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EXHIBIT K – Protonmail’s Blog Entry Celebrating its Four-year Anniversary In May 2018 
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EXHIBIT L – Signed Statement and Supporting Documentation Provided by Mr. Colling 
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EXHIBIT M – Articles of Incorporation For Atlantic Beverage Solutions, Inc 
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EXHIBIT N – 2020 Annual Report of Atlantic Beverage Solutions, Inc 
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EXHIBIT O – Signed Statement by Atlantic Beverage Solutions, Inc 
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EXHIBIT P – Registration of dba ‘URUBRAS-USA’ on 30th April 2014 by Atlantic Beverage Solutions 
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EXHIBIT Q – Mahkota Bank’s Record with the Department of Law and Human Rights of Indonesia 
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TRANSLATION 

Corporate Record 

1. Company Name : PT Mahkota Bank Internasional 

2. Address : Jl. Casablanka Kav. 88 Tower 88A 23rd floor, Menteng 

dalam, Tebet, South Jakarta. 

3. Fixed Lines : (021) 4458 6320 

4. Established Date : 1 November 2019 

5. Deeds : No. 03 dated 7 November 2019, registered under number 

AHU-0059687.AH.01.01 year 2019 on 12 November 

2019. Legalized by notary Abdul Rajab Rahman, S.H. M.Kn. 

The document informs about the following:  

• Company core business is finance and insurance. 

• Registered capital is IDR 10,000,000,000. 

• Authorized capital is IDR 7,000,000,000.  

• Paid up capital is IDR 7,000,000,000. 

• Key principals of the company are Leonardus Khrisna A 

(Managing Director), Indrawan Wibisono (Director) and 

Bambang Harsono (Commissioner).  

• Shareholders are Leonardus Khrisna A as 

holder of 20% shares IDR 1,400,000,000, 

Bambang Harsono as holder of 60% shares IDR 

4,200,000,000 and Indrawan Wibisono as 

holder of 20% shares IDR 1,400,000,000. 

6. Type of Company : Domestic investment private limited company. 

7. Tax Registration 

Number 

: 93.425.098.6-015.000 

8. Core Business : Finance and Insurance. 

9. Authorized Capital : IDR 10,000,000,000 

10. Registered Capital : IDR 7,000,000,000 

11. Paid Up Capital : IDR 7,000,000,000 

12. Shareholders : ➢ Bambang Harsono (60%) 
➢ Indrawan Wibisono (20%) 
➢ Leonardus Khrisna A (20%) 

13. Board of Directors : ➢ Leonardus Khirsna A (President Director) 
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➢ Ir. Ronald Binsar Sidabutar MS (Director) 
➢ Indrawan Wibisono (Director) 

14. Board of 

Commissioners 

: ➢ Bambang Harsono (Commissioner) 

15. Holding Company : - 

16. Subsidiary Company : - 

17. Additional 

Information 

: • Indrawan Wibsono was born in Bandung on 4 November 
1969. His ID number is 3275010411690009. His 
registered address is located at Jl. Arjuna II No. 40A, 
Bekasi Jaya, Bekasi Timur, West Java. 

•  Bambang Harsono was born in Yogyakarta on 11 August 
1958. His ID number is 3216061108580008. His 
registered address is located at Perum Metland Tambun 
Blok K-7 No. 5, Tambun Selatan, Bekasi, West Java. 

• Leonardus Khrisna A was born in Surakarta on 11 
December 1972. His ID number is 3173051112720001. 
His registered address is located at Komplek Migas XX 
Blok-E No. 36, Kelapa Dua, Kebon Jeruk, West Jakarta. 
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EXHIBIT R – Searches for Mahkota Bank with the Financial Services Authority and the Central 

Securities Depository of Indonesia 

OJK Conventional and Sharia Bank Directories 201957 

 

 

 

OJK Loan Bank Directory 201958 

 

  

 
57 https://www.ojk.go.id/id/kanal/perbankan/data-dan-statistik/Pages/Daftar-Alamat-Kantor-Pusat-Bank-Umum-Dan-Syariah.aspx 
58 https://www.ojk.go.id/id/kanal/perbankan/data-dan-statistik/Pages/Daftar-Alamat-Kantor-Pusat-BPR.aspx 
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2017 Indonesian Banking Directory59 

 

 

  

 
59 https://www.ojk.go.id/id/kanal/perbankan/data-dan-statistik/Direktori-Perbankan-Indonesia-Baru/Pages/Direktori-Perbankan-
Indonesia-2017.aspx 
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Custodian Bank List at Indonesia Securities Depository (KSEI)60 

 

 

KSEI Stock Trading Company Directory61 

 

 

  

 
60 https://www.ksei.co.id/services/participants/custodian-banks 
61 https://www.ksei.co.id/services/participants/brokers 
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EXHIBIT S – Screenshot of the Internet Domain Analysis For Mahkota-Bank.Co 
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EXHIBIT T – Screenshot of Mahkota Bank’s Website 
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EXHIBIT U – Analysis of Images Used in Mahkota Bank’s Website 

Mahkota Bank’s website 

 

 

Images found in stock photo websites 
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EXHIBIT V – Screenshot of Google Maps’ Search for Mahkota Bank in Jakarta 
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EXHIBIT W – Photographs Taken During a Visit to Mahkota Bank’s Registered Address 
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EXHIBIT X – Alleged Counterfeit Mahkota Bank Drafts Published in Scamsurvivors.Com 
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EXHIBIT Y – Screenshot of Mahkota Bank’s Entry on Ripoffscams.Com 
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EXHIBIT Z – Counterfeit Mahkota Bank Draft Published by Ripoffscams.Com 
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EXHIBIT AA – Printscreen of Thewhistleblowers.org in the Wayback Machine 
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EXHIBIT BB – Counterfeit Mahkota Bank Letter Published by Thewhistleblowers.org 
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EXHIBIT CC – Counterfeit HSBC Letter Published by Thewhistleblowers.org 
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EXHIBIT DD – Mahkota Bank’s Entry in the SWIFT Directory 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 

 

 
 
19th August 2020  

 120 
 

EXHIBIT EE – Printscreen from Biclookup.com 
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EXHIBIT FF – Letter by the South African Reserve Bank 
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EXHIBIT GG – Affidavits Deposed by Kgomotso Prince Mokgatlha 
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EXHIBIT HH – Corporate Searches Performed in South Africa for Blue Flies and Fire Flies 
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EXHIBIT II – Global Corporate Searches for Blue Flies and Fire Flies 
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EXHIBIT JJ – Affidavit Deposed by Dario Milo of Webber Wentzel 
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